# Guide to the Anna Strunsky Walling Papers

### **MS 1111**



compiled by Diane Kaplan, John Espy, Joanne Woolner, and the staff of Manuscripts and Archives

April 1982

Yale University Library
P.O. Box 208240
New Haven, CT 06520-8240
(203) 432-1735
(203) 432-7441
beinecke.library@yale.edu
http://www.library.yale.edu/mssa/

# **Table of Contents**

| Collection Overview  | 3    |
|--|------|
| Requesting Instructions  | 3    |
| Administrative Information   | 4    |
| Immediate Source of Acquisition  | 4    |
| Conditions Governing Access  | 4    |
| Conditions Governing Use   |      |
| Preferred Citation   | 4    |
| Existence and Location of Copies   | 4    |
| Biographical / Historical  | 4    |
| Scope and Contents   | 7    |
| Arrangement  | . 13 |
| Collection Contents  | . 14 |
| Series I: Correspondence of Anna Walling, 1897-1964                      |      |
| Series II: Correspondence of Others, 1871-1964                           | 27   |
| Series III: Diaries and Writings, [1901]- 1964                           | . 30 |
| Series IV: Memorabilia, [ca. 1880s]-1964                                 | 39   |
| Series V: Photographs, [ca. 1900-1960]                                   | 42   |
| Accession 1994-M-101: Additional Material, 1901-1914, 1957-1966, undated | 43   |
| Accession 2000-M-006: Additional Material, 1906-1927, undated            | 44   |
| Selected Search Terms  | . 45 |

#### Collection Overview

**REPOSITORY:** Manuscripts and Archives

Yale University Library

P.O. Box 208240

New Haven, CT 06520-8240

(203) 432-1735 (203) 432-7441

beinecke.library@yale.edu

http://www.library.yale.edu/mssa/

**CALL NUMBER: MS 1111** 

CREATOR: Walling, Anna Strunsky, 1879-

TITLE: Anna Strunsky Walling papers

**DATES:** 1880-1968

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION: 17.25 linear feet

LANGUAGE: English

**SUMMARY:** The papers consist of correspondence, diaries, writings, memorabilia and

photographs. The correspondence (1897-1964) which includes family, friends and political associates documents Walling's involvement in political causes. The letters also reveal Anna Walling's feelings on personal matters, social questions and her reactions to meetings with prominent persons both in the United States and abroad. Her trip to Russia (ca. 1905-1907) with William English Walling where they toured the provinces and met many literary and political figures is described in her letters home. Important personal correspondents are Melville Anderson, Gelette Burgess, Harry Cowell, Hutchins Hapgood, Ray Nash, Charles Edward Russell, Katherine Maryson, Jane Roulson, James Graham Phelps Stokes, Rose Pastor Stokes, Upton Sinclair and Gaylord Wilshire. There are also a number of letters from prominent political and literary figures of the period, among them Elizabeth Gurley Flynn, Zona Gale, Arnold Genthe, Jesse Jackson, Vida Scudder, Irving Stone, Henrietta Szold, Norman Thomas and Rabindranath Tagore. Despite her prolonged love affair with Jack London only a few copies of his letters are in the correspondence, (She gave many of his letters, manuscripts, etc. to the

Huntington Library.)

ONLINE FINDING AID: To cite or bookmark this finding aid, please use the following link: https://

hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/mssa.ms.1111

# **Requesting Instructions**

To request items from this collection for use in the Manuscripts and Archives reading room, please use the request links in the HTML version of this finding aid, available at <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/mssa.ms.1111">https://hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/mssa.ms.1111</a>.

To order reproductions from this collection, please go to <a href="http://www.library.yale.edu/mssa/">http://www.library.yale.edu/mssa/</a> <a href="mailto:ifr\_copy\_order.html">ifr\_copy\_order.html</a>. The information you will need to submit an order includes: the collection call number, collection title, series or accession number, box number, and folder number or name.

Key to the container abbreviations used in the PDF finding aid:

b. box

f. folder

### **Administrative Information**

# **Immediate Source of Acquisition**

Purchased from the Walling family in 1980; gift of John M. Whitcomb, 1988 and 1992; gift of Anna Walling Hamburger, 1994; gift of Rosamond Walling Tirana, 1999; and gift of Diane S. and Robert Abrams, 2014.

# **Conditions Governing Access**

While this collection as a whole is available for research, parts of it may be restricted due to law, university policy or fragility. Any restricted material will be noted as such. For the portions that have been filmed, patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.

# **Conditions Governing Use**

Copyright is retained by Christopher Walling for materials authored or otherwise produced by Anna Strunsky Walling. After his lifetime, his copyright passes to Yale University. Copyright status for other collection materials is unknown. Transmission or reproduction of materials protected by U.S. Copyright Law (Title 17, U.S.C.) beyond that allowed by fair use requires the written permission of the copyright owners. Works not in the public domain cannot be commercially exploited without permission of the copyright owners. Responsibility for any use rests exclusively with the user.

#### **Preferred Citation**

Anna Strunsky Walling Papers (MS 1111). Manuscripts and Archives, Yale University Library.

# **Existence and Location of Copies**

Correspondence, 1897-1964 is available on microfilm (21,647 frames on 20 reels, 35mm.) from Scholarly Resources, Inc., Wilmington, Delaware. HM 158

# **Biographical / Historical**

Anna Strunsky Walling was born in Russia on March 21, 1879. Her parents, Elias Strunsky and Anna Horowitz (or Hourwitch) Strunsky (the daughter of Rabbi Lasser Horowitz) emigrated to the United States in 1893 with their six children: Albert, Hyman, Max, Morris, Anna, and Rose. The family first settled in New York but relocated to San Francisco, where Elias had a liquor business. The family encouraged the children in their education. Max became a respected orthopedic surgeon and Hyman a writer for *The New York Call*. Both Anna and Rose attended Stanford University, Anna graduating in the class of 1900.

Anna, while still a student, became active in socialist causes and joined the Socialist Labor Party. Talented, bright, with ambitions to become a writer, and seen, perhaps, as slightly exotic or bohemian, Anna moved in a circle of San Francisco writers and artists at the turn of the century. Contemporary newspapers described her as "fascinating," "the type to attract men," and "keen and alert." "The Crowd", as the circle was called, included Austin Lewis, Harry Cowell, Cameron King, Frank Strawn Hamilton, Herman Whitaker,

Frederick Irons Banford, George and Carrie Sterling, Xavier Martinez, and Charmian Kittredge. It was Frank Strawn Hamilton who in December 1899 introduced Anna to Jack London while they were attending a celebration of the Paris Commune which was held in San Francisco under the auspices of the American branch of the Socialist Labor Party. Thus began a passionate friendship that would be punctuated by sharp confrontations caused by intellectual and emotional differences.

London began to frequent the warm, congenial Strunsky home where he and Anna would read and discuss literature and politics together. With a group of friends including Gelette Burgess and Jane Roulston, they read plays. Out of the Strunsky-London discussions emerged a book, a novel in the form of letters, *The Kempton-Wace Letters*. The book, a philosophical debate on love, posed Strunsky, as Dane Kempton defending ideal, lyric love, against the arguments of London as Herbert Wace for scientific or biological love. The letters represented much that intellectually and emotionally divided the authors.

London's daughter Joan says that "there is little doubt they fell in love early in their acquaintance, but their basic differences on which neither would compromise proved as strong as their mutual attraction." She suggests that Anna doubted the principles of Jack's philosophy, that he was too much concerned with money to be a socialist and that he was out to "beat the capitalists at their own game." Jack for his part startled Anna by questioning her ability to carry forth her life with purpose, without being swamped by her magnificent emotional qualities. Andrew Sinclair in his *Jack* suggests that London would have married Anna had he had enough money to support her in the style to which he thought she was accustomed.

During the time of the collaborative effort, 1900-1902, London married his first wife, Bess Maddern, but he continued to write passionately to Anna. However, when London left California in the summer of 1902, Anna apparently broke off the romance. *The Kempton-Wace Letters* were published anonymously in 1903 by MacMillan. Later, when the authors were made known and London separated from Bess many people suspected that Anna Strunsky had been the cause and that London would marry her. London, in fact, had already decided to marry Charmian Kittredge. The sensational press had a field day with the scandal. Some of the papers accused London of using the scandal to inflate sales of the book.

Anna was not even in San Francisco when the scandal began to break. After the separation from London and after MacMillan had accepted the book, she had gone to New York. Here she wrote articles and revised the page proofs of the book. Gaylord Wilshire gave her a kind of social season introducing her to William Dean Howells, Norman Hapgood, and Leonard Abbott. It was during this stay that she probably met her future husband, William English Walling, who at the time was working for the University Settlement. Anna spent the summer of 1903 first in Boston to meet with the Burgesses and then journeyed to Europe with them. In London she met a "host of old Socialists" including Kropotkin.

She returned to San Francisco in the fall of 1903 to begin a novel called "Windlestraws" and to write and lecture on Russian subjects. On and off she saw London to share some of her work, letters from mutual friends, and ideas about "the cause", but she was also forming a strong friendship with Cameron King. When Jack's divorce was final she wrote to her friend Katia Maryson (1904 Sep 2): "I am very glad that he has his freedom at last. He has suffered bitterly. Further I do not know... I think we do not love each other, but I may be slandering a supreme feeling in thinking so. I am too breathless from the race for happiness and do not know."

With the threat of war in the Far East Anna planned to become a war correspondent for the San Francisco *Bulletin* following London who was to go for the Hearst syndicate. Instead during the winter of 1905 she took herself to King's Mountain to begin a novel that she would work on for another ten years, *Violette of Pere Lachaise*. On returning to the city she helped establish a circle of Friends of Russian Freedom. In her letter to Maryson (1905 Mar 4) she wrote: "I have deserted Jack. There is not a thought for him, not a clinging regret." When she wrote to Maryson of London's pending marriage to Charmian Kittredge (1905 May 10) she said: "Please do not think me unhappy. I...do not myself want Jack's love. I am quite estranged from him." Nevertheless, London remained a friend to Anna, visiting her years later. Anna, for her part, lived with her warm memories of London, and she attempted to write a biography of him many times.

Anna had been in contact with William English Walling who was spending the fall of 1905 in Europe and was planning to go to Russia to witness the expected revolution and civil war. She received a cablegram from him urging her to join him in his work, and in December, telling her parents that she was going to

Geneva, she and Rose secretly made their way to St. Petersburg. In an intense first month in Russia, Anna traveled alone to Vilna, Minsk, and Hommel. In Hommel she interviewed General Orlov and the Jewish victims of the massacre he had orchestrated, and a passionate article resulted. Within the month she became engaged to Walling, who had previously assumed her to be engaged to Jack London.

Walling came from a very different background. His maternal grandfather, William Hayden English, had been the Democratic vice-presidential candidate in 1880 and an uncle served in Congress. His father, Willoughby Walling, was a physician who, through astute management of real estate, had amassed a fortune, and his mother, Rosalind English Walling, was a member of the Daughters of the American Revolution.

Walling was educated at private schools in Louisville, Kentucky, and Edinburgh, Scotland, when his father served as United States counsul. In 1897 Walling graduated from the University of Chicago, then studied for a year at the Harvard Law School, and returned to Chicago to do graduate work in economics and sociology. With his independent means of support Walling was free to devote himself to his interests in the labor movement and to writing for the liberal press. He worked as a factory inspector for the state of Illinois and then became a resident of the University Settlement in New York City. It was through his immigrant friends in New York that he became interested in Russia. Once there Walling was able to meet with leading revolutionary figures including Lenin and Gorky.

The proposed marriage of Anna and English was not immediately acceptable to either side of the family. There were objections based on the suddenness of the announcement, on religious grounds, and on the publicity that Anna's relationship with Jack London had generated. Nonetheless, Anna and English planned to marry in Russia after the Russian First of May. In the meantime they continued to study and write, to observe the Duma, and to visit important personalities such as Tolstoy. When the American ambassador decided he could not marry them, they left Russia to be married in France. On June 28, 1906, with Anna's sister Rose and Jean Louquet, Marx's grandson, as witnesses, Anna and English were married in a civil ceremony in Paris. Following the marriage they returned to Russia, stopping in Poland to visit Anna's cousins and in Finland. In Russia they toured the provinces and then left Rose in St. Petersburg and returned to America. With all the travel Anna noted that she was having difficulty finding time for her writing.

Anna's difficulties finding time to write and to be productive professionally would plague her for the rest of her life. The first two years of marriage were full of travel. In 1907 the Wallings went to Italy for English's health and also attended the Congress of the Second International Socialist Organization in Stuttgart. Then in July, Anna informed the family that she was pregnant. Confident that all would go well Anna and English remained in Europe, and on February 8, 1908, a daughter Rosalind was born. But, all did not go well, and five days later the baby died. Anna was crushed, blamed the nurse for carelessness, and agonized over her own responsibility for the tragedy. For many months she was despondent. Perhaps it was just her intense emotional nature or some real sense of guilt, but for the rest of her life she dwelled constantly on this bitter memory. Another tragedy, a miscarriage on February 8, 1909, led Anna to write to her in-laws: "Well, it has all ended in another death - blow to our happiness and peace of mind, in an added feeling of irrevocable loss and defeat and tragedy, in another wound that can never be healed."

In the spring of 1909 the Wallings moved their belongings to Caritas Island in Connecticut to establish their household near their friends James Graham and Rose Pastor Stokes. They then set off on yet another European trip. This was to be their last for several years, since Anna was already expecting the daughter that would be her "consolation baby" Rosamond. During the summer a scandal arose when the newspapers learned that English was being sued by a French woman, Anna Berthe Grunspan, for breach of promise. Anna steadfastly defended English, and the scandal died away.

In the years following Anna was totally immersed in her children and home. Between February, 1910, and March, 1918, Anna gave birth to four children (Rosamond, Anna, Georgia, and William Hayden English) and had one miscarriage. The family moved into at least three different houses on Long Island and in Connecticut and transported themselves nearly every summer to upstate New York, the Connecticut shore, or Nantucket. English often left Anna with the children while he traveled to visit his parents in Florida, on Socialist Party business, and later to Europe with Samuel Gompers to the International Commission on Labor Legislation. Although Anna had an agent to arrange lectures for her, she had little

time for writing and speaking, and her fiery speeches at political rallies grew less frequent. In 1915 *Violette* of *Pere Lachaise* was finally published.

Serious strains appeared in the Wallings' marriage before the marriage was ten years old. Anna complained of English's temperamental outbursts and of how he embarrassed her in front of their friends and children. English considered her less than adequate in her command of the household and servants and in her care of the children. He expected her writing and speaking to earn money and criticized her lack of productivity. Politically they were also divided as Anna continued in her socialism and love for Russia, while English moved towards greater nationalism, vocal anti-Bolshevism, and involvement in the American Federation of Labor. Financial problems also caused tensions. A large house purchased in Greenwich, Connecticut, and a summer home in Watch Hill, Rhode Island, needed much upkeep, the children required private school, and English having been raised with all wordly comforts was unable to economize, nor were his own occupations bringing in a steady income. English even tried moving the family to France for a year in order to save money.

Through the decade of the 1920s these tensions continued to build. As the children were ready for college it was obvious that finances were too unbalanced. The Greenwich house was put up for sale, and this seemed to signal the breaking point in the marriage. Anna suspected English of having an affair, but, though hurt, she continued to proclaim her love. English filed for a Mexican divorce in 1932, but Anna refused to recognize the end of the marriage. There were only brief reunions after that; English died alone in Amsterdam in 1936.

Perhaps it was in Anna's nature to dwell in the remembered love and her hurt and grief. Her letters, diaries, and notes replay unspoken words and scenes over and over again. Yet at the same time Anna was becoming deeply involved emotionally with Leonard Abbott. They had known each other for many years. Abbott, known as the "gentle socialist", had found himself on the opposite side from English on the important issues splitting the Socialist Party asunder: the World War, the Russian Revolution, the labor movement, and economic nationalism. Anna, though she was not outspoken, quite possibly found Abbott's positions more like her own. At the time of Anna's great emotional trial, Abbott's own wife was dying, and he was experiencing the financial difficulties common to many writers during the Depression.

With what was certainly compassion and tenderness on both sides, Anna and Leonard discussed the alternatives of free love and marriage. Leonard felt that Anna had kept him from suicide and homosexuality. But he was also able to offer support to her, encouraging her in her writing and counselling her on problems in the lives of her children. She cared for Leonard through his last illness in 1953, but although the two were together for nearly twenty years, there was never a legal marriage. Anna, for all her radical sentiments, was at heart a great romantic, and she probably could never concede that her one marriage was not the pinnacle of love that she had hoped to obtain.

Anna Strunsky Walling lived to be almost 85 (she died in 1964) but the last thirty years were lived through her children and her memories. She traveled frequently to visit a daughter and son in Europe and grieved over the children's series of marital difficulties. They too were unable to reach her ideal of love. She helped edit a memorial volume on English and continued to write her memories of her Jack London years. She returned to California on short visits to old friends and helped dedicate a California state park built around the ruins of Jack London's home. She participated in Quaker social action projects and followed the activities of the War Resisters League, the League for Mutual Aid, the American League to Abolish Capital Punishment, the League for Industrial Democracy, and the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People which English had helped found. Living in Greenwich Village, she had contact with some young bohemian writers, but by the time she died the sensational, enthralling Anna Strunsky had been long forgotten. Perhaps Jack London was shrewd in his observation that Anna's ability to carry forth her life with purpose would be thwarted by her self-abnegating attachments to others and her emotions. Hers was a life made interesting by the people she loved rather than by the work she produced.

# **Scope and Contents**

The life of Anna Walling, an advocate of socialism and the cause of labor, was molded by three prominent socialists: Jack London, William English Walling, and Leonard Abbott. The papers of Anna Walling, acquired

by the Yale University Library from Walling's family in 1980, are most significant for understanding Walling's relationships with these three men and for the picture of the radical or bohemian circle of friends that surrounded them in San Francisco, New York, England, and Russia. Since the papers came from the family they are uniquely rich in family material. Both incoming and outgoing letters are present for most family correspondents.

The Anna Strunsky Walling Papers are not a complete record of Anna Walling's life. Over the years Walling donated many of her Jack London materials to the Huntington Library. A large collection of William English Walling's papers is owned by the State Historical Society of Wisconsin. (These papers are also available on microfilm) Yet Anna Walling, or her family, retained many early family letters, both those written to her and those by her in which she described her life. Especially numerous in the papers are revealing letters to and from Leonard Abbott. The papers also include the diary and writer's idea books that Walling kept all her life.

The papers are now arranged in five series: I. CORRESPONDENCE OF ANNA WALLING, II. CORRESPONDENCE OF OTHERS, III. DIARIES AND WRITINGS, IV. MEMORABILIA, V. PHOTOGRAPHS.

This arrangement represents an order imposed on the papers during processing. Anna Walling's filing system, if any, was chaotic. The papers seem almost to have been shoveled into storage boxes, which were stored for many years on Cape Cod and exposed to sea air and vermin. After the papers were sorted nearly a quarter of the correspondence showed pages missing, and much of the collection is in deteriorating physical condition. Series I and II have been scheduled for microfilming, and when this has been completed researchers will be required to consult the film before using the original papers.

CORRESPONDENCE OF ANNA WALLING contains all incoming letters addressed to Anna Walling (ASW) and outgoing letters written by ASW. The correspondence is arranged alphabetically by recipient, and the series is the largest in the papers. Correspondence of selected individuals has been foldered and listed separately but general letter files also contain occasional letters from notable persons such as Elizabeth Gurley Flynn, Zona Gale, Arnold Genthe, Charlotte Perkins Gilman, Raymond Ingersoll, Jesse Jackson, Vida Scudder, David Shannon, Irving Stone, Henrietta Szold, Norman Thomas, and Rabindranath Tagore. These general files are also studded with form letters and newsletters from liberal and radical organizations to which ASW belonged at the end of her life, eg. the Central Committee for Conscientious Objectors, the American Civil Liberties Union, the Massachusetts Council for the Abolition of the Death Penalty, the Fellowship of Reconciliation, and the Greenwich Village Peace Center.

Many of the names listed in this series are persons ASW numbered among her personal friends. Melville Anderson was her professor at Stanford. Gelette Burgess, Harry Cowell, Cameron King, Ray Nash, Jane Roulson and Gaylord Wilshire are friends from her California days. The correspondence with King shows an especially close relationship. When ASW left for Russia in 1905 King sent her news of her family. It was King who wrote at length to assure her that her family had survived the San Francisco earthquake, and his letters contain both verbal and pictorial descriptions of the damage. There is only one scrap of Jack London's own handwriting although there are several copies of London's letters, some of which are included in *Letters from Jack London*.

One of ASW's closest early friends was Katherine Maryson, who was a participant in New York's radical circles and was, like ASW, a Russian-Jewish immigrant. To her ASW was quite open about her feelings for Jack London, and the Maryson file is interesting because it contains ASW's original letters to Maryson as well as Maryson's responses. These letters are perhaps the best in the collection for understanding the curious Walling-London relationship. ASW also wrote her the details of her trips to Europe and Russia, mentioning the names of all the notables she had met and describing the progress of the "Revolution" as she saw it.

The list of selected files reveals the names of many people prominent in socialist or radical circles. Some were close friends, others slight acquaintances. The Wallings knew Rose Pastor Stokes (RPS) and her husband James Graham Phelps Stokes. For a time the couples lived in close proximity on Caritas Island. The Stokes correspondence is small in quantity but there are good letters filled with RPS's views on the schisms in political parties in the 1912 election and on her divorce from Stokes. There are more letters from Emma Goldman, but though they are usually addressed "Dear Anna" they are not personal in tone. They are full of

the details of Goldman's organization of "movement" meetings and of her magazine Mother Earth. Charles Edward Russell was another close friend. A few of his letters are written on Pro-Palestine Federation of America stationary but his letters never detail his activities. They are always affectionate communications signed "Uncle Charley". The Upton Sinclair correspondence dates from the end of ASW's life and contains merely fleeting recollections of an earlier friendship. The Wallings had been with the Hutchins Hapgoods in Paris, and there are a few personal letters to ASW from them in the files.

With Selig Perlman, the economist and scholar of U.S. labor history, the Wallings had a special relationship. William English Walling (WEW) had helped Perlman as a young immigrant. The correspondence contains two letters to ASW when Perlman was just getting started as a student of John R. Commons, and as a teacher at the University of Wisconsin. (Additional letters to WEW are filed in Series II.) The friendship continued after WEW's death, and in later years Perlman wrote ASW about his trips to Israel and his feelings about his Jewishness.

The Wallings witnessed the terrible race riot in Springfield, Illinois in 1908. This event supposedly motivated WEW to call a meeting of friends and acquaintances interested in improving race relations. Out of this meeting the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) emerged. ASW's letters mention nothing about either the riot or the founding of the NAACP. There are a few personal letters from Mary White Ovington concerning ASW's son and in one letter Ovington enclosed a copy of a letter from Charles Edward Russell in which he explains why he does not participate in the NAACP.

The files contain letters from many minor writers such as Weston McDaniel, Shaemas O'Sheel, and George Sterling, and from a second generation of Jack London admirers and scholars interested in going to first hand witnesses of the early 20th century radical movement. Vil Bykov, a Soviet writer, interviewed ASW about Jack London; Joseph Backus was doing research on Gelette Burgess; and John Whitcomb was interested in Rose Pastor Stokes.

The best source of biographical detail on ASW is contained in the correspondence files for members of her family and WEW's family. The early letters are full of ASW's undertakings but later letters reflect her growing introspectiveness and the drama of her family's relationships. At times this correspondence reads like a soap opera. The earliest letters are with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Eliaa Strunsky. There are a few letters concerning her engagement and marriage and later letters concerning the children. Unfortunately, many of these letters, especially those from Mrs. Strunsky, are written in Yiddish in a difficult hand.

There is much more correspondence with ASW's new in-laws, Rosalind and Willoughby Walling. ASW was very close to Rosalind Walling. It is through these letters that ASW's life from 1906-1930 can be pieced together. The joy of her love, the grief of her first two pregnancies, her feelings about the Anna Grünspan affair, the various household moves, the children's education and illnesses, and the family financial situation. Even some negative comments about WEW are in these letters. In the earlier letters ASW often comments on her circle of friends and acquaintances. In a February, 1911 letter she mourns the murder of David Graham Phelps and in November of that year the suicide of Kellogg Durland. A February 29, 1912 letter mentions a visit with Jack London, and an August, 1916 letter records the results of a conversation with Charlotte Perkins Gilman on "life" and children. In December, 1918 ASW writes of enjoying the Christmas season, "I have never had a Christmas tree, but I hope to trim a Christmas tree every remaining year of my life." In January, 1919 she writes of her father's business failure with the advent of Prohibition. The 1924 letters show much concern for personal finances and suggest economy measures such as letting the servants go and changing private schools for the children. At the same time, ASW mentions WEW's trip to Cleveland for the LaFollette Convention and his campaign for Congress from Connecticut on the Democratic ticket. In a January,1926 letter ASW describes a dinner she has given for the 80th birthday of Harriet Stanton Blatch.

The death of Rosalind Walling in 1930 ends this source for much of the day to day detail in ASW's life. ASW carried on a similar type of correspondence with her sister Rose Strunsky Lorwin after Rose's marriage in 1920. At first Rose and Louis Lorwin moved to Beloit, Wisconsin where Louis taught at Beloit College. Rose's letters are an interesting reflection of small town life as seen by transplanted city dwellers. In December, 1920, she asked ASW to send her magazines like *Soviet Russia*since Louis would not subscribe fearing to have his name on a subscription list in case of Red scare raids. Many of the letters between the

sisters concern the problems of their children and aging parents. Rose and Louis traveled extensively in Europe. In 1936 there are interesting letters from Rose in Germany, but the detailed descriptions break off rather abruptly for Rose feared that bulky letters would be "suspect". In the 1940s and 1950s the sisters'. letters are full of their own infirmities. There are also details of ASW's trips to California and Europe.

The correspondence with William English Walling begins in 1905 with letters from WEW to Miss Strunsky describing his stay in Europe and his plans for his Russian trip, and urging her to come join him. In the following years, there are infrequent letters from ASW when WEW was absent from home, mainly giving details of the growing family. In a letter of January 30, 1914, she describes her own and the children's reaction to a visit with Jack London. During this period the papers contain few incoming WEW letters.

Following World War I WEW began to work closely with Samuel Gompers and the American Federation of Labor. From January-March, 1919, the correspondence contains WEW's letters from his trips to Europe with Gompers. In England he visited with former Fabian Society friends and with British Socialist leader Henry Hyndman and in Paris with George D. Herron, a former Socialist, who like WEW had broken with the party during the war and who was serving now as a Wilson emissary, and with Adolphe Smith and Bohemian and Italian socialists.

In 1921 ASW herself went to Europe to be with her sister Rose whose scoliosis was causing a difficult pregnancy and fears for her delivery. Rose had chosen to go to Freiburg, Germany to be delivered by a new method of anesthesia known as "twilight sleep". ASW's letters to WEW in September and October are full of detail concerning German hospitals and maternity care. Her letter of October 6, 1921 describes minutely Rose's labor and the birth of her son Boris. (ASW would later write an article for McClure's on twilight sleep. See Box 32, folder 379.)

While ASW and the children lived in Paris during the winter of 1923 there were again many occasions for letters to WEW in New York, these containing the details of daily life. Here ASW also describes meetings with Anatole France and Charmian London. The 1924 file contains letters from WEW during the AFL Convention in El Paso, and the 1926-1927 file holds letters describing WEW's trip to Mexico on the Calles project. During the winter of 1928 WEW went to Havana. WEW's letters in these later years are sparse and usually concerned with finances, while ASW's letters are fairly constant. The letters from the summer of 1929 show obvious signs of the marriage in trouble though the final illness of Rosalind Walling in the summer of 1930 seemed to bring a temporary truce. In 1932 there are final breaking up letters and after that the files contain only a few scattered letters of ASW to WEW which are more interesting for the fact that they survive than for their content.

Following WEW's death in 1936 ASW and WEW's brother began work on a volume of tributes in his memory. The series contains occasional typed copies of letters, possibly those intended for publication and letters of condolence and reminiscences. Of interest are letters from George Watt, a boyhood friend of WEW.

ASW's correspondence from the 1930s on is primarily concerned with the lives of her children and grandchildren. Rosamond, the eldest, attended Swarthmore College where she became friendly with her near relative George Gershwin and some of his set. Her letters from college are full of youthful enthusiasm and the details of her social life. Shortly after graduation in 1932 she married Rifat Tirana, an Albanian working with the League of Nations in Geneva. The couple lived in Europe until the outbreak of World War II when they returned to Washington D.C. ASW's letters to Rosamond are full of motherly advice especially concerning nursing and child care for Turhan, Bardyl, and Ganni, her grandsons, Her November 12, 1940 letter does give her feelings about FDR, "Hitlerism", and her own socialism. ASW was closest to Rosamond and to her, more so than to her other children, she revealed her emotional upheavals over the marriage with WEW and her feelings for Leonard Abbott.

ASW's second daughter, Anna, Jr. also attended Swarthmore, but married before she finished school. There are not a great many letters to or from Anna, Jr. (Anna Matson) but in correspondence with other family members the soap opera quality of Anna Matson's life is revealed. The family did not approve of her early marriage to Norman Matson, a Catholic and a man twice her age who had gotten her pregnant. In a September 19, 1932 letter to Rosamond ASW writes that she hopes Anna won't marry and that now

she doesn't think it a "heinous crime" for women to bring on miscarriages. Anna and Norman married on October 18, 1932, but the marriage continued to be fraught with financial difficulties and separations.

ASW's two other children also gave her cause for worry. Georgia who had married Dan Eastman, son of Max Eastman, later divorced him and had difficulty settling down to a career, flitting between acting and social work. Hayden moved from school to school but settled on no profession except building a place for himself on Cape Cod. During World War II he received a deferment as a farmer or teacher, but was truly a conscientious objector. After the war he worked for UNRRA in Italy and then for UNICEF in Paris. His correspondence with ASW tells something of his travels and years in Africa but is mainly filled with the strains of his relationships with his mother and three wives.

The extensive Leonard Abbott (LDA) correspondence contains many discussions of ASW's children's problems, but it is of more interest for those interested in Abbott's later life. There are Only a few letters before ASW's break with WEW, but after 1932 there is an almost constant interchange of feelings and ideas. In his letter of September 19, 1933, LDA discusses a meeting of the Bronx Free Fellowship trustees and their views of the struggles going on in the Socialist Party. In 1936 letters LDA discusses his precarious financial situation and his work writing travel guide books as part of a federally sponsored writer's project, and in a letter of December 30, 1937, he describes a meeting of Russian Jewish intelligentsia who were organizing to protest Stalin's purges. His letters 'show his continuing faith in pacifism even in the face of the progress of events in Europe. Many of his letters are introspective and reveal his alternating bouts of "melancholia and ecstasy." LDA's October 16, 1939 letter is interesting for his remarks about Jack London, the class struggle, and his willingness to work with non-Socialists like Franklin Roosevelt. His letters also contain news of his own children, Morris and Ellen. Morris, totally uninterested in any radical causes, served as a U.S. military officer during World War II. Many of LDA's later letters are punctuated with grief and sadness over the deaths of his friends and associates, and memories of earlier days. The correspondence concludes only with LDA's final illness. Some matters concerning his physical and financial situation in this last year, 1953, are also discussed in ASW's correspondence with Leonard White.

Since the Anna Walling Papers came from the family they included a large number of letters not addressed to or written by Anna Walling. These letters are arranged in Series II, CORRESPONDENCE OF OTHERS. They include some correspondence of WEW, his parents, Anna's sister Rose, the Walling children, and even some of Leonard Abbott. This series is arranged so as not to split any one person's incoming and outgoing letters. When family members are in correspondence with each other all incoming and outgoing correspondence between them will be found in the file of the correspondent named first on the list. All letters to or from WEW (not to or from ASW) come first.

The WEW correspondence with others is the most interesting and valuable in this series. There are many early letters to his parents describing his experiences at the Harvard Law School, his residency at the University Settlement in New York, his travels in Europe, and his time in Russia including his engagement and marriage to Miss Strunsky. The latter topic is also discussed in correspondence with Anna's parents (folder 258). In the letters to his parents, during and after World War I, he is more explicit about his work. On October 28., 1917, he wrote, "I have also been actively cooperating with George Creel and his governmental press bureau organized in Washington and also with Gomper's Alliance of Labor and Democracy formed to fight treason in the Labor Union and Socialist Party. Finally, I have taken a very active part, though quiet, in the campaign against Hillquit for Mayor of New York." These letters clearly show WEW's turn away from his radical colleagues. In the fall of 1922, with ASW and the children in Paris, he was working to bring the American Legion closer to the AFL, "They can more than counterbalance all out aliens, pacifists, and radicals. Already they are especially active in regard to the schools and in regard to radical propaganda." Letters to parents also outline the family financial situation.

The WEW files also contain good letters from Rose assessing the situation in Russia (1906) and describing the British General Strike (1911). The files provide some evidence concerning the suit of Anna Berthe Grunspan (folder 256), and the miscellaneous files (folders 279-281) include interesting letters from Hutchins Hapgood, Selig Perlman, George Creel, and Charlotte Perkins Gilman. Adolphe Smith on January 1, 1914, wrote an analysis of the relationships of the British socialists and their relations with the Labor Party. These miscellaneous letters are very scattered and probably reflect the nature of the fuller WEW correspondence at the State Historical Society of Wisconsin.

A few letters in the Rosalind and Willoughby Walling files (folders 282-284) reflect on WEW's life, though for the most part the files contain letters from grandchildren. There is a letter from WEW's headmaster and a [ca. 1901] letter from Willoughby describing WEW's mental state. A few letters from friends praise WEW's books.

Of note in the Rose Strunsky Lorwin files (folders 285-287) are her early letters from her trips to Russia and Finland written to her parents and brothers. These tell of all that she is seeing as well as of the ASW-WEW courtship. There is also an interesting letter from Jane Roulston in San Francisco writing about labor demonstrations, Bill Haywood, and the I.W.W. Of some interest also are a long letter from Hayden to his wife Liza in December, 1945 (folder 294) describing his work for UNRRA and a letter to Mr. and Mrs. Strunsky (folder 296) from Harriet Stanton Blatch following a party given in her honor by ASW.

DIARIES AND WRITINGS, Series III, contains over 100 volumes of diaries or writer's idea books, copies of published writings, and drafts and notes for unpublished writings. These types of material have been brought together in one series to illustrate the connection between ASW's diaries or idea books and her writings.

From the number of diary volumes it seems probable that ASW always kept some kind of notebook with her to jot down her ideas and feelings. The volumes are arranged more or less chronologically, the numbers being assigned by the archives staff. The dates of the volumes overlap; some cover a long period of time, others only part of a year. Volumes were used perhaps only at one location, ie. a summer house, and not used again until ASW returned to that location.

The volumes cover almost her entire life, but the most interesting volumes are the early ones, especially #3 and #4, written during ASW's Russian journey. Some of the early ones also contain notes and outlines for stories, but for the most part the diaries contain her outbursts of emotion at times of family stress. They show ASW's most effusive romantic style. There are a great number of volumes for the 1930s and 1940s, and often passages are repeated or similar feelings restated over and over again. Many are written in the loneliness of the middle of the night. ASW's difficult handwriting is made even more difficult by the smudging of the penciled scrawl. Of some help are typed copies of selected passages up to 1936 made for ASW. These would be of interest to those studying the breakup of her marriage and her relationship with Hayden.

There is no bibliography of ASW's published works so it is difficult to estimate what proportion are represented by the "Writings-Published" section in this series. There are really very few for someone who thought of herself as a writer. These are arranged chronologically and include two memoirs of Jack London, one for The Massesand one later one for the Greenwich Village Lantern.

The Series contains a large number of drafts, fragments, and notes for unpublished works. Where possible, these have been listed by ASW's titles, or where there is no title, by subject, but there remain two full boxes of unidentified loose pages. There are sketches of notable characters ASW met during her stay in Russia, notes for articles and fiction showing ASW's great abhorrence for capital punishment, and a great many pages for a lengthy memoir of Jack London. There are also chapters for a novel, an outline for a play, and samples of ASW's poetry.

Series IV contains both ASW's personal memorabilia such as programs, clippings, and promotional literature for her appearances, and guest and address books as well as files of material she saved concerning her friends or causes or subjects in which she was interested. Much of this material is printed, though there are unique items such as children's drawings and memorabilia of WEW. Of interest also is a typed memoir by Leonard Abbott recounting the people and events of his long career in radical causes and a box of postcards collected by the Wallings on their travels. Included in the postcards are several from Russia and Europe [ca. 1906]. In the folder "Russia" (folder 467) are a few rare publications from the same period.

PHOTOGRAPHS, Series V, consists of only one box. Many of the photographs are of ASW and the children. There are interesting photographs taken in Russia and also some of the ruins of San Francisco after the 1906 earthquake. Many persons and places are unidentified, but there is at least one photograph of Rose Pastor Stokes on Caritas Island.

The Anna Walling Papers will be of interest to those studying the many other collections in Manuscripts and Archives concerning the Russian revolution and American socialism. The Rose Pastor Stokes Papers (MS 573) are clearly related, containing photographs of and correspondence with the Wallings. ASW met and wrote on Catherine Breshkovsky, the "little grandmother of the Russian Revolution", and her papers are contained in Manuscript Group #606.

# Arrangement

Arranged in five series and two additions: I. Correspondence of Anna Strunsky Walling, 1897-1964. II. Correspondence of Others, 1871-1964. III. Diaries and Writings, [1901]-1964. IV. Memorabilia, [ca. 1880s]-1964. V. Photographs, [ca. 1900-1960].

### **Collection Contents**

# Series I: Correspondence of Anna Walling, 1897-1964

7.25' (18 boxes)

Series I contains all incoming letters addressed to Anna Walling and all outgoing letters written by her. The correspondence is arranged alphabetically by recipient. The correspondence of selected individuals has been foldered and listed separately from general letter files.

Folders with asterisks(\*) contain ten or more items.

Materials in this series are available on microfilm. Researchers must use FILM HM 158 instead of the originals.

| b. 1, f. 1reel 1U        | A This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   |                                 |
|--------------------------|---|---------------------------------|
| b. 1, f. 2-13reel 1U     | Abbott, Leonard D. (*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1908-1940 May                   |
|                          | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |                                 |
| b. 2, f. 14-24reel<br>2U | Abbott, Leonard D.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   | 1941 March-1950<br>December     |
|                          | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |                                 |
| b. 3, f. 25-29reel<br>3U | Abbott, Leonard D.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   | 1951 April-1953<br>Mar, undated |
| b. 3, f. 30reel 3U       | Anderson, Melville B.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1916, 1921–1931,<br>undated     |
| b. 3, f. 31reel 3U       | Arazarena, Tor de(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1923-1933,<br>undated           |
| b. 3, f. 32reel 3U       | Ba This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                                 |
| b. 3, f. 33reel 3U       | Be-Bo This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   |                                 |

| b. 3, f. 34reel 3U | Br-By, "B" unidentified   |                  |
|--------------------|---|------------------|
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                  |
| b. 3, f. 35reel 3U | Backus, Joseph M.(*)  | 1958-1963,       |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
| b. 3, f. 36reel 3U | Balch, Emily Greene   | 1943, 1953       |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                  |
| b. 4, f. 37reel 3U | Barney, Nora  | 1944, 1951–1961, |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
| b. 4, f. 38reel 3U | Berkman, Alexander  | undated          |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                  |
| b. 4, f. 39reel 3U | Blatch, Harriet Stanton   | 1926, 1938,      |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
| b. 4, f. 40reel 3U | Bohn, Frank   | 1954-1963,       |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
| b. 4, f. 41reel 3U | Brooks, Eleanor S. (Mrs. Van Wyck)  | undated          |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                  |
| b. 4, f. 42reel 3U | Burgess, Gelette and Estelle  | 1917-1946,       |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
| b. 4, f. 43reel 3U | Bykov, Vil(*)   | 1959-1963,       |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
| b. 4, f. 44reel 3U | С   |                  |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                  |
| b. 4, f. 45reel 3U |   | 1958-1960, 1963  |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                  |
| b. 4, f. 46reel 4U | Cohen, Meyer and Elizabeth(*)   | 1930, 1936,      |
|                    | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated          |
|                    |   |                  |

| b. 4, f. 47-48reel<br>4U | Cowell, Harry and Olive(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.              | 1912-1963,<br>undated               |
|--------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|
| b. 4, f. 49reel 4U       | D This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                       |                                     |
| b. 4, f. 50reel 4U       | D, Christopher This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                          | 1953, 1958–1959,<br>undated         |
| b. 4, f. 51reel 4U       | E This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                       |                                     |
| b. 4, f. 52reel 4U       | English, William E., Helen and Rosalind This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1908-[ca. 1925],<br>undated         |
| b. 4, f. 53reel 4U       | Fa-Fe This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                   |                                     |
| b. 4, f. 54reel 4U       | Fi-Fu This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                   |                                     |
| b. 4, f. 55reel 4U       | Frevert, Carolyn This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                        | 1925, undated                       |
| b. 5, f. 56reel 4U       | Ga-Go This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                   |                                     |
| b. 5, f. 57reel 4U       | Gr-Gu This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                   |                                     |
| b. 5, f. 58reel 4U       | Goldman, Emma(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                        | 1911–1919,<br>1921,1929,<br>undated |
| b. 5, f. 59reel 4U       | Guillain, Alix(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                       | 1944-1950,<br>undated               |
| b. 5, f. 60reel 4U       | Ha Hi<br>This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the<br>originals.                             |                                     |

| b. <b>5</b> , f. <b>61</b> reel <b>4</b> U | Ho-Hy(*)   |                             |
|--|--|-----------------------------|
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 62reel 5U                         | Hapgood, Hutchins  | undated                     |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 63reel 5U                         | [Heath?], Winifred(*) English  | 1910-1917,<br>undated       |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 64reel 5U                         | Herron, George   | 1910, 1914-1919             |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 65reel 5U                         | Huntington (Henry E.) Library and Art Gallery(*)   | 1926, 1947,                 |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1953-1961                   |
| b. 5, f. 66reel 5U                         | T. Company of the com |                             |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 67reel 5U                         | J  |                             |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 68reel 5U                         | К  |                             |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. <b>5</b> , f. <b>69</b> reel <b>5U</b>  | Kantor, Martha Ryther  | 1941 April-July             |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. <b>5</b> , f. <b>70</b> reel <b>5U</b>  | Kaplan, Louis(*)   | 1956-1963                   |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 71reel 5U                         | Kimball, Astrid and David(*)   | 1923–1924,                  |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1931, 1936-1937,<br>undated |
| b. 5, f. 72reel 5U                         | Kimball, Hilda   | 1962, undated               |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
| b. 5, f. 73reel 5U                         | King, Cameron(*)   | 1905-1906                   |
|  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |                             |
|  |  |                             |

| b. 5, f. 74reel 5U       | King, Cameron and Isabel(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                | 1925, 1943-<br>1963, fragments,<br>undated |
|--------------------------|--|--|
| b. 6, f. 75reel 5U       | La-Le This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                      |  |
| b. 6, f. 76reel 5U       | Li-Lu, "L" unidentified This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                    |  |
| b. 6, f. 77reel 5U       | Laidler, Harry  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                            | 1914-1961,<br>undated                      |
| b. 6, f. 78reel 5U       | Lal, Gobind Behari(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                      | 1915-1960,<br>undated                      |
| b. 6, f. 79reel 5U       | Lewandowsky, Charles, Amilie and George(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1938-1963,<br>undated                      |
| b. 6, f. 80reel 5U       | Light, Gertrude(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                         | [1915-1916],<br>undated                    |
| b. 6, f. 81reel 5U       | London, Charmian Kittredge(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.              | 1912-1946,<br>undated                      |
| b. 6, f. 82reel 6U       | London, Jack(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                            | 1899-1905,<br>undated                      |
| b. 6, f. 83reel 6U       | Lorwin, Boris This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                              | 1947, 1963-1964,<br>undated                |
| b. 6, f. 84reel 6U       | Lorwin (Levine), Louis(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                  | 1920–1922, 1963,<br>undated                |
| b. 6, f. 85reel 6U       | Lorwin, Rosalind  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                          | 1936-1952                                  |
| b. 6, f. 86-89reel<br>6U | Lorwin, Rose Strunsky(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                   | 1905-1912,<br>1914-1924                    |

| b. 7, f. 90-100reel        | Lorwin, Rose Strunsky(*)  | 1925-1949   |
|----------------------------|---|---|
| 6U                         | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   |   |
| b. 8, f.<br>101-106reel 7U | Lorwin, Rose Strunsky(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                | 1950–1956,<br>1959–1963,<br>undated,<br>fragments |
| b. 8, f. 107reel 8U        | Ma This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                      |   |
| b. 8, f. 108reel 8U        | Me My, "M" unidentified This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                 |   |
| b. 8, f. 109reel 8U        | McDaniel, Weston(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                     | 1948-1960,<br>undated                             |
| b. 8, f. 110reel 8U        | McGinn, Hulda and Walter(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.             | 1919-1921 ,<br>undated                            |
| b. 8, f. 111reel 8U        | Mann, Prestonia This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                         | 1926-1928, 1943,<br>undated                       |
| b. 8, f. 112-113reel<br>8U | Maryson, Katherine E., Jay and Edna(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1903-1906   |
| b. 9, f. 114-115reel<br>8U | Maryson, Katherine E., Jay and Edna(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1907–1931, 1959,<br>undated                       |
| b. 9, f. 116-118reel<br>8U | Matson, Anna Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                 | 1921–1930, 1933–<br>1954, undated                 |
| b. 9, f. 119reel 9U        | Merle, Janet(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                         | 1943-1962,<br>undated                             |
| b. 9, f. 120reel 9U        | Meserole, Darwin J. and Katherine M.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1938, 1950-1952                                   |
| b. 9, f. 121reel 9U        | Moffett, Anne (Bricheen O'Grady)(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.     | 1941-1948,<br>undated                             |
|                            |   |   |

| b. 9, f. 122reel 9U | N   |                       |
|---------------------|---|-----------------------|
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 9, f. 123reel 9U | Nash, Ray   | 1905-1960,            |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated               |
| b. 9, f. 124reel 9U | Nock, Albert Jay  | 1912, 1915            |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 9, f. 125reel 9U | 0   |                       |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 9, f. 126reel 9U | O'Sheel, Annette and Shaemas  | 1917, 1944–1951,      |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated               |
| b. 9, f. 127reel 9U | Ovington, Mary White  | 1917, 1928,           |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated               |
| b. 9, f. 128reel 9U | P   |                       |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 9, f. 129reel 9U | Pearce, Theodosia(*)  | undated               |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 9, f. 130reel 9U | Perlman, Fannie and Selig(*)  | 1908–1910,            |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1936–1962,<br>undated |
| b. 9, f. 131reel 9U | Porter, Edna(*)   | 1926-1938,            |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated               |
| b. 9, f. 132reel 9U | Quint, Howard   | 1955-1956             |
|                     | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 10, f. 133reel   | Ra-Ri   |                       |
| 9U                  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
| b. 10, f. 134reel   | Ro-Ry, "R" unidentified   |                       |
| 9U                  | This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |                       |
|                     |   |                       |

| b. 10, f. 135reel<br>9U      | Rehling, Clinton Aabye  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.               | 1945-1958,<br>undated |
|------------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| b. 10, f. 136reel<br>9U      | Roulston, Jane(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                     | 1903-1917,<br>undated |
| b. 10, f. 137reel<br>9U      | Russell, Charles E. and Theresa H.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1926-1944,<br>undated |
| b. 10, f. 138reel<br>10U     | Sa-Sc<br>This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the<br>originals.                           |                       |
| b. 10, f. 139reel<br>10U     | Se-SI This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                 |                       |
| b. 10, f. 140reel<br>10U     | Sm-Sz, "S" unidentified This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.               |                       |
| b. 10, f. 141reel<br>10U     | Sahn, Regina This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                          | 1949-1962,<br>undated |
| b. 10, f. 142reel<br>10U     | Schulkind, Adelaide This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                   | 1926-1961,<br>undated |
| b. 10, f. 143reel<br>10U     | Sedgwick, Ellery This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                      | 1915-1934,<br>undated |
| b. 10, f. 144reel<br>10U     | Shepard, Irving and Mildred  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.          | 1960, undated         |
| b. 10, f.<br>145-146reel 10U | Sims, Gerald (Jerry)(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.               | 1955-1961,<br>undated |
| b. 10, f. 147reel<br>10U     | Sinclair, Upton This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                       | 1958-1961             |
| b. 10, f. 148reel<br>10U     | Slavick, Winifred Arundel This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.             | 1926-1936,<br>undated |

| b. 10, f. 149reel<br>10U     | Somin, W.O.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                  | 1944-1958                                     |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| b. 10, f. 150reel<br>10U     | Stokes, Rose Pastor This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.             | 1911-1918, 1925                               |
| b. 10, f. 151reel<br>10U     | Stookey, Byron, Jr. This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.             | 1963, undated                                 |
| b. 11, f. 152reel<br>10U     | Strunsky, Albert This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                | 1918, undated                                 |
| b. 11, f. 153reel<br>10U     | Strunsky, Mr. and Mrs. Elias(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1897, 1904-1931                               |
| b. 11, f.<br>154-155reel 10U | Strunsky, Mr, and Mrs. Elias(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated                                       |
| b. 11, f. 156reel<br>11U     | Strunsky, Hyman(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.              | 1905-1938,<br>undated                         |
| b. 11, f. 157reel<br>11U     | Strunsky, Max and Ruth(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.       | 1906-1959,<br>undated                         |
| b. 11, f. 158reel<br>11U     | Strunsky, Morris and Mellie(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | [1906?], 1908,<br>1912, 1957-1963,<br>undated |
| b. 11, f. 159reel<br>11U     | Strunsky, Simeon and Manya This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.      | 1912-1948                                     |
| b. 11, f. 160reel<br>11U     | T<br>This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the<br>originals.                         |   |
| b. 11, f. 161reel<br>11U     | Tanner, Cora (Mrs. John) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.        | 1918-1924 ,<br>undated                        |
| b. 11, f. 162reel<br>11U     | Tirana, Bardyl Rifat This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.            | 1951-1964                                     |

| b. 11, f. 162reel<br>11U     | Tirana, Ganni<br>This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                       | 1951, 1958,<br>undated |
|------------------------------|--|------------------------|
| b. 11, f. 163reel<br>11U     | Tirana, Rifat.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                      | 1932-1941,<br>undated  |
| b. 11, f.<br>164-167reel 11U | Tirana, Rosamond Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.            | 1916-1930              |
| b. 12, f.<br>168-177reel 11U | Tirana, Rosamond Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.            | 1931-1964,<br>undated  |
| b. 12, f. 178reel<br>12U     | [Tirana, Rosamond Walling?](*) English This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | undated                |
| b. 12, f. 179reel<br>12U     | Tirana, Turhan Walling This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                 | 1943-1963,<br>undated  |
| b. 12, f. 180reel<br>12U     | Traubel, Anne(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                       | 1912-1930              |
| b. 12, f. 180reel<br>12U     | Traubel, Gertrude This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                      | 1912-1963              |
| b. 12, f. 180reel<br>12U     | Traubel, Horace This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                        | 1912                   |
| b. 12, f. 181reel<br>12U     | U This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                      |                        |
| b. 12, f. 182reel<br>12U     | V This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                      |                        |
| b. 13, f. 183reel<br>12U     | Wa-Wh This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                  |                        |
| b. 13, f. 184reel<br>12U     | Wi-Wr, "W" unidentified This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                |                        |

| b. 13, f. 185reel<br>12U     | Wakefield, Eva Ingersoll(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1940-1955,<br>undated                   |
|------------------------------|--|---|
| b. 13, f. 186reel<br>12U     | Wald, Lillian This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1936, undated                           |
| b. 13, f. 187reel<br>12U     | Walker, Franklin This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   | 1953-1954,<br>undated                   |
| b. 13, f. 188reel<br>12U     | Walling, Cheves T. and family: Rosalind Walling Holton, Hazel Walling Nourse This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1947-1964,<br>undated                   |
| b. 13, f. 189reel<br>13U     | Walling, Elizabeth Archer (Mrs. William Hayden English)(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                   | 1943-1947                               |
| b. 13, f.<br>190-191reel 13U | Walling, Georgia(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1916-1963,<br>undated                   |
| b. 13, f. 192reel<br>13U     | Walling, Mary Martha Fulton (Mrs. William Hayden English) ("Tookie")(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.      | 1940-1941                               |
| b. 13, f. 193reel<br>13U     | Walling, Odette Bonat (Mrs. William Hayden English)(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                       | 1949-1962,<br>undated                   |
|                              | See also: <u>box 16, folder 224-228</u>  |   |
| b. 13, f.<br>194-199reel 13U | Walling, Rosalind English and Willoughby(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                  | 1906-1916                               |
| b. 14, f.<br>200-209reel 14U | Walling, Rosalind English (Mrs. Willoughby)(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                               | 1917–1930,<br>undated and<br>fragments  |
| b. 15, f.<br>210-218reel 15U | Walling, William English(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1905-1929 June                          |
| b. 16, f.<br>219-222reel 16U | Walling, William English(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | 1929 July-Oct,<br>1930-1936,<br>undated |
| b. 16, f. 223reel<br>16U     | Walling William English II and Mary Elizabeth(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                             | 1938-1963,<br>undated                   |

| b. 16, f.<br>224-228reel 16U | Walling, William Hayden English(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                 | 1921-1938,<br>1940-1950                |
|------------------------------|--|--|
| b. 16, f. 229reel<br>16U     | Walling, William Hayden English and Christopher(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1951-1964,<br>undated                  |
| b. 16, f. 230reel<br>16U     | Walling, Mr. and Mrs. Willoughby G.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.             | 1908-1937,<br>1960-1963, n.d           |
| b. 17, f. 231reel<br>16U     | Warbasse, James Peter and Agnes(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                 | 1905-1957<br>undated                   |
| b. 17, f. 232reel<br>16U     | Watt, George W.  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                   | 1940-1954                              |
| b. 17, f. 233reel<br>16U     | Weller, June This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                       | 1945-1947,<br>undated                  |
| b. 17, f. 234reel<br>17U     | Weyl, Walter, Bertha and Nathaniel(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.              | 1906-1941<br>undated                   |
| b. 17, f. 235reel<br>17U     | Whitcomb, John M.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                               | 1956-1964                              |
| b. 17, f. 236reel<br>17U     | White, Leonard D.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                               | 1951–1961,<br>undated and<br>fragments |
| b. 17, f. 237reel<br>17U     | Wilshire, Gaylord This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                  | 1905-1927                              |
| b. 17, f. 238reel<br>17U     | Woods, Edith English (Mrs. Herbert) ("Cricket")(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1913-1949,<br>undated                  |
| b. 17, f. 239reel<br>17U     | Wyeth, John S.  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                    | 1915-1917                              |
| b. 17, f. 240reel<br>17U     | Y-Z This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |  |

| b. 18, f. 241reel<br>17U     | Unidentified: complete letters by A.S.W. to unidentified recipients  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. |
|------------------------------|--|
| b. 18, f. 242reel<br>17U     | Unidentified: complete letters to A.S.W.  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                            |
| b. 18, f.<br>243-248reel 17U | Unidentified: first names A-W This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |
| b. 18, f.<br>249-251reel 17U | Fragments: in hand of A.S.W.  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  |
| b. 18, f.<br>252-253reel 17U | Fragments: unidentified  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.   |
| b. 18, f. 254reel<br>17U     | Fragments: unidentified: Yiddish This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                     |
|                              |  |

### Series II: Correspondence of Others, 1871-1964

1.5 linear feet (4 boxes)

Series II contains letters neither addressed to nor written by Anna Walling. Incoming and outgoing letters of any one person are together in the same file. When family members are in correspondence with each other, all such correspondence will be found in the file of the correspondent named first on the list.

Folders with asterisks(\*) contain ten or more items.

Materials in this series are available on microfilm. Researchers must use FILM HM 158 instead of the originals.

| Wa                           | ılling, William English   |                       |
|------------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| b. 19, f. 255reel<br>18U     | English, William E.  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                        | 1901-1925,<br>undated |
| b. 19, f. 256reel<br>18U     | Grünspan, Anna Bertha<br>This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the<br>originals.                 | 1905-1906,<br>undated |
| b. 19, f. 257reel<br>18U     | Lorwin, Rose Strunsky  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                      | 1906-1916,<br>undated |
| b. 19, f. 258reel<br>18U     | Matson, Anna Strunsky Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.            | 1915-1936             |
| b. 19, f. 259reel<br>18U     | Strunsky, Mr. and Mrs. Elias  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.               | 1906-1907             |
| b. 19, f.<br>260-261reel 18U | Tirana, Rosamond Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                 | 1915-1936,<br>undated |
| b. 19, f. 262reel<br>18U     | Walling, Georgia This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                            | 1917-1931,<br>undated |
| b. 19, f.<br>263-269reel 18U | Walling, Rosalind English and Willoughby(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1883-1916,<br>undated |
| b. 20, f.<br>270-275reel 18U | Walling, Rosalind English(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                | 1917-1930             |
| b. 20, f. 276reel<br>19U     | Walling, Rosalind English and Willoughby(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | n. d., fragments      |

#### Walling, William English (continued)

| b. 20, f. 277reel<br>19U     | Walling, William Hayden English(*)  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.             | [ca. 1922-1933],<br>undated                           |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| b. 20, f. 278reel<br>19U     | Walling, Willoughby G.( $^{*}$ ) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                | 1897-1934,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 20, f.<br>279-281reel 19U | Miscellaneous  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                  | 1888-1937,<br>undated,<br>fragments                   |
| b. 21, f. 282reel<br>19U     | Walling, Rosalind English and Willoughby(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.     | 1871-1918   |
| b. 21, f.<br>283-284reel 19U | Walling, Rosalind English(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                    | 1919-1930,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 21, f.<br>285-287reel 19U | Lorwin, Rose Strunsky(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                        | 1905–1912, 1915,<br>1920–1938, 1941–<br>1960, undated |
| b. 21, f. 288reel<br>20U     | Lorwin, Boris Lorwin, Louis Lorwin, Rosalind(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1929-1945,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 21, f.<br>289-291reel 20U | Tirana, Rosamond Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                     | 1911-1964,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 21, f. 292reel<br>20U     | Matson, Anna Walling(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                         | 1921-1961,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 21, f. 293reel<br>20U     | Walling, Georgia(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                             | 1913-1952,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 22, f. 294reel<br>20U     | Walling, William Hayden English(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.              | 1917, 1940, 1945,<br>undated                          |
| b. 22, f. 295reel<br>20U     | Abbott, Leonard(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                              | 1919-1953,<br>undated                                 |
| b. 22, f. 296reel<br>20U     | Strunsky, Mr. and Mrs. Elias This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                    | 1906, 1908, 1926,<br>undated                          |

| b. 22, f. 297reel<br>20U | Walling, Elizabeth Archer (Mrs. William Hayden English) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals. | 1945-1946             |
|--------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| b. 22, f. 298reel<br>20U | English, William E.(*) This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.                                  | 1906-1925,<br>undated |
| b. 22, f. 299reel<br>20U | Miscellaneous  This material has been microfilmed. Patrons must use HM 158 instead of the originals.  | [ca. 1870-1950]       |

# Series III: Diaries and Writings, [1901]- 1964

5.5′ (14 boxes)

Series III is arranged in two sections: *Diaries* and *Writings*. *Diaries* contains over 100 volumes which have been arranged more or less chronologically and numbered by the archives staff. The section concludes with loose diary pages and a typescript made from some of the diaries.

The *Writings* section has been arranged with published works, arranged chronologically, coming first. Unpublished manuscripts follow. These have also been arranged chronologically. The last writings in this section consist of loose pages. Where possible these have been grouped by topic, but many totally unidentified, undated pages, have been grouped in boxes 35 and 36.

| 1             | <u>Diaries</u>             |                      |
|---------------|----------------------------|----------------------|
| b. 23, f. 300 | #1<br>English              | [1901-1902]-1934     |
| b. 23, f. 301 | #2<br>English              | 1904                 |
| b. 23, f. 301 | #3<br>English              | 1905-1906            |
| b. 23, f. 302 | #4 (in 4 parts)<br>English | 1906                 |
| b. 23, f. 303 | #5<br>English              | 1909-<br>[1910]-1932 |
| b. 23, f. 303 | #6<br>English              | 1916                 |
| b. 23, f. 304 | #7<br>English              | 1917                 |
| b. 23, f. 304 | #8 (in 4 parts)<br>English | [1921-1925]-1931     |
| b. 23, f. 305 | #9<br>English              | 1927-1947            |
| b. 23, f. 305 | #10<br>English             | 1929-1932            |
| b. 24, f. 306 | #11<br>English             | [1930-1931]-1939     |
| b. 24, f. 307 | #12<br>English             | 1931-1955            |
| b. 24, f. 307 | #13<br>English             | 1932                 |
| b. 24, f. 307 | #14<br>English             | 1932-1934            |
| b. 24, f. 308 | #15<br>English             | 1933-1936            |

| b. 24, f. 308 | #16<br>English | 1933-1934        |
|---------------|----------------|------------------|
| b. 24, f. 308 | #17<br>English | 1933             |
| b. 24, f. 308 | #18<br>English | 1933-1949        |
| b. 24, f. 308 | #19<br>English | 1933             |
| b. 24, f. 308 | #20<br>English | 1933-1940        |
| b. 24, f. 309 | #21<br>English | 1934             |
| b. 24, f. 309 | #22<br>English | [1934], 1949     |
| b. 24, f. 310 | #23<br>English | 1934-1935        |
| b. 24, f. 310 | #24<br>English | 1935             |
| b. 24, f. 311 | #25<br>English | 1935             |
| b. 25, f. 312 | #26<br>English | 1935             |
| b. 25, f. 312 | #27<br>English | 1935-1936        |
| b. 25, f. 313 | #28<br>English | [1935], 1959     |
| b. 25, f. 313 | #29<br>English | 1935             |
| b. 25, f. 314 | #30<br>English | 1935             |
| b. 25, f. 314 | #31<br>English | 1935-1936        |
| b. 25, f. 315 | #32<br>English | 1935-1936        |
| b. 25, f. 315 | #33<br>English | 1927-[1935-1936] |
| b. 25, f. 316 | #34<br>English | 1936             |
| b. 25, f. 316 | #35<br>English | 1936             |

| b. 25, f. 317 | #36<br>English  | 1936              |
|---------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| b. 25, f. 317 | #37<br>English  | 1936-1937         |
| b. 25, f. 318 | #38<br>English  | 1937              |
| b. 25, f. 318 | #39<br>English  | 1937              |
| b. 25, f. 318 | #40<br>English  | [1937–1939], 1951 |
| b. 25, f. 319 | #41<br>English  | 1937-1938         |
| b. 25, f. 319 | #42<br>English  | 1939              |
| b. 26, f. 320 | #43<br>English  | 1939              |
| b. 26, f. 320 | #44<br>English  | 1939              |
| b. 26, f. 320 | #45<br>English  | 1939-1940         |
| b. 26, f. 321 | #46<br>English  | 1940              |
| b. 26, f. 322 | #47<br>English  | 1941              |
| b. 26, f. 322 | #48<br>English  | 1941              |
| b. 26, f. 323 | #49<br>English  | 1942-1943         |
| b. 26, f. 323 | #50<br>English  | 1943, 1946        |
| b. 26, f. 323 | #51<br>English  | 1946-1948         |
| b. 26, f. 324 | #52<br>English  | 1942              |
| b. 26, f. 325 | #52a<br>English | 1942              |
| b. 26, f. 325 | #52b<br>English | 1944              |
| b. 26, f. 326 | #53<br>English  | 1943-1944         |

| b. 26, f. 326 | #54<br>English  | [1943–1944],<br>1948 |
|---------------|-----------------|----------------------|
| b. 26, f. 326 | #55<br>English  | 1943-1944            |
| b. 26, f. 327 | #56<br>English  | 1943-1946            |
| b. 26, f. 327 | #57<br>English  | 1944-1945            |
| b. 26, f. 327 | #58<br>English  | 1944                 |
| b. 27, f. 328 | #59<br>English  | 1944                 |
| b. 27, f. 329 | #59a<br>English | 1945                 |
| b. 27, f. 329 | #59b<br>English | 1946                 |
| b. 27, f. 330 | #60<br>English  | 1923-[1945]          |
| b. 27, f. 330 | #61<br>English  | 1945                 |
| b. 27, f. 330 | #62<br>English  | 1945                 |
| b. 27, f. 331 | #63<br>English  | 1945-1947            |
| b. 27, f. 332 | #64<br>English  | 1945-1946            |
| b. 27, f. 333 | #65<br>English  | 1946                 |
| b. 27, f. 333 | #66<br>English  | 1920,                |
| b. 27, f. 333 | #67<br>English  | 1946                 |
| b. 27, f. 333 | #68<br>English  | 1946, 1949           |
| b. 27, f. 334 | #69<br>English  | 1946-1947            |
| b. 27, f. 334 | #70<br>English  | 1946, 1948           |
| b. 27, f. 335 | #71<br>English  | 1946, 1948           |

| b. 27, f. 335 | #72<br>English  | 1946-1948        |
|---------------|-----------------|------------------|
| b. 27, f. 336 | #73<br>English  | 1947-1948        |
| b. 27, f. 336 | #74<br>English  | 1947             |
| b. 28, f. 337 | #74a<br>English | 1947             |
| b. 28, f. 337 | #74b<br>English | 1948             |
| b. 28, f. 338 | #74c<br>English | 1947             |
| b. 28, f. 338 | #75<br>English  | 1948             |
| b. 28, f. 339 | #76<br>English  | 1949             |
| b. 28, f. 339 | #77<br>English  | 1949             |
| b. 28, f. 339 | #78<br>English  | 1950             |
| b. 28, f. 340 | #79<br>English  | 1950, 1958, 1964 |
| b. 28, f. 340 | #80<br>English  | 1951-1953        |
| b. 28, f. 341 | #81<br>English  | 1951             |
| b. 28, f. 341 | #82<br>English  | 1951             |
| b. 28, f. 341 | #82a<br>English | 1951             |
| b. 28, f. 342 | #83<br>English  | 1951             |
| b. 28, f. 342 | #84<br>English  | 1952-1953        |
| b. 28, f. 342 | #84a<br>English | 1952             |
| b. 28, f. 342 | #84b<br>English | 1953             |
| b. 29, f. 343 | #84c<br>English | 1954             |

| b. 29, f. 343 | #85<br>English  | 1955            |
|---------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| b. 29, f. 343 | #85a<br>English | 1955            |
| b. 29, f. 344 | #86<br>English  | 1956            |
| b. 29, f. 344 | #87<br>English  | 1956            |
| b. 29, f. 345 | #87a<br>English | 1956            |
| b. 29, f. 345 | #87b<br>English | 1957            |
| b. 29, f. 346 | #87c<br>English | 1957            |
| b. 29, f. 346 | #87d<br>English | 1959            |
| b. 29, f. 347 | #88<br>English  | 1958            |
| b. 29, f. 347 | #89<br>English  | 1959            |
| b. 29, f. 348 | #90<br>English  | [1959?]         |
| b. 29, f. 348 | #91<br>English  | 1959            |
| b. 29, f. 349 | #92<br>English  | 1960-1962       |
| b. 29, f. 349 | #93<br>English  | 1955-1956, 1960 |
| b. 29, f. 350 | #94<br>English  | 1960            |
| b. 29, f. 350 | #95<br>English  | 1960            |
| b. 30, f. 351 | #96<br>English  | 1961            |
| b. 30, f. 351 | #97<br>English  | 1962            |
| b. 30, f. 352 | #98<br>English  | 1962            |
| b. 30, f. 352 | #99<br>English  | 1963            |

| b. 30, f. 352     | #100<br>English  | 1964                  |
|-------------------|--|-----------------------|
| b. 30, f. 353     | #101-104<br>English  | undated               |
| b. 30, f. 354     | #105-107<br>English  | undated               |
| b. 30, f. 355     | #108-109<br>English  | undated               |
| b. 30, f. 356     | #110-112<br>English  | [ca. 1930s]           |
| b. 30, f. 357     | #113-114<br>English  | undated               |
| b. 30, f. 358-363 | [Diaries?] - loose pages<br>English  | 1905-1962,<br>undated |
| b. 31, f. 364-368 | Typescript pp. 1-219, fragments  | [ca. 1936]            |
| <u>Writ</u>       | <u>ings</u>  |                       |
|                   | Published  |                       |
| b. 32, f. 369     | "On the Principle of Loyalty in Biography"<br>English  | 1902                  |
| b. 32, f. 370     | "Statement" for brochure of the California Society of the Friends of<br>Russian Freedom<br>English | [ca. 1905]            |
| b. 32, f. 371     | "A Tribute to the Yellow Press," <i>Collier's</i> English  | 1911 April 22         |
| b. 32, f. 372     | "Fire Peril in Factories," <i>National Post</i><br>English   | 1911 May 6            |
| b. 32, f. 373     | "David Graham Phillips," <i>Saturday Evening Post</i><br>English                                   | 1911 October 21       |
| b. 32, f. 374     | "Violence and the I.W.W." - speech to a meeting at 350 East 81st Street English                    | 1914 November<br>22   |
| b. 32, f. 375     | Violette of Pere Lachaise (fragments of draft)   | 1915                  |
| b. 32, f. 376     | "Memoirs of Jack London," <i>The Masses</i><br>English   | 1917 July             |
| b. 32, f. 377     | "Tells Wives to Leave if Love Dies," Los Angeles Record<br>English                                 | 1917 August 28        |
| b. 32, f. 378     | "Walt Whitman and Russia," <i>The Modern School</i> (cover only) English                           | 1919 April-May        |
| b. 32, f. 379     | "Twilight Sleep II," McClure's   | 1922 June             |

# Writings > Published (continued)

| b. 32, f. 380     | "What Autosuggestion Will Do for You," <i>Psychology</i> (table of contents only) English   | 1924 August           |
|-------------------|---|-----------------------|
| b. 32, f. 381     | "Paxton Hibbon," <i>Labor Age</i><br>English  | 1929 January          |
| b. 32, f. 382     | "Memories of Jack London," <i>Greenwich Village Lantern</i><br>English  | 1960 December         |
| b. 32, f. 383     | "Photographs by Genthe," Town and Country   | undated               |
| b. 32, f. 384     | Printed articles  | fragments,<br>undated |
| b. 32, f. 385     | Poems   | [ca. 1904-1941]       |
| Unp               | ublished manuscripts  |                       |
| b. 32, f. 386     | "In Bohemia"<br>English   | 1906                  |
| b. 32, f. 387-388 | "Revolutionary Lives (Russia 1906)"<br>English  | [ca. 1917]            |
|                   | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |                       |
| b. 32, f. 389     | "Horace Traubel"<br>English   | 1919                  |
| b. 32, f. 390     | "Notes on the War Resister's Conference at Northover"<br>English  | 1940 July 15          |
| b. 32, f. 391     | "A Life"<br>English   | 1941                  |
| b. 32, f. 392-393 | "Jack London"<br>English  | [ca. 1942?]           |
|                   | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |                       |
| b. 33, f. 394     | "Upton Sinclair - A Tribute"<br>English   | 1958                  |
| b. 33, f. 395     | "Alexei Grigorewitz - Fatalist"<br>English  | undated               |
| b. 33, f. 396     | "Catherine Breshkovsky"<br>English  | undated               |
| b. 33, f. 397     | "The Crown Prince"<br>English   | undated               |
| b. 33, f. 398     | "Emancipation"<br>English   | undated               |

#### Writings > Unpublished manuscripts (continued)

| b. 33, f. 399     | "The Greatest Revolution"<br>English  | undated |
|-------------------|---|---------|
| b. 33, f. 400     | "In Memoriam - Robert Dell"<br>English  | undated |
| b. 33, f. 401     | "Jack London"<br>English  | undated |
|                   | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |         |
| b. 33, f. 402     | "Judging the Insane"<br>English   | undated |
| b. 33, f. 403     | "Windlestraws" (chapters for a novel)<br>English  | undated |
| b. 33, f. 404     | "With Bigamous Intent"<br>English   | undated |
| Loo               | se pages  |         |
| b. 34, f. 405     | re: capital punishment and Sacco and Vanzetti   |         |
| b. 34, f. 406     | re: Henry Cowell  |         |
|                   | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |         |
| b. 34, f. 407     | re: Dante   |         |
| b. 34, f. 408     | re: family and children   |         |
| b. 34, f. 409-413 | re: Jack London   |         |
|                   | A copy of this material is available in digital form from Manuscripts and Archives. Contact Manuscripts and Archives at <a href="mailto:beinecke.library@yale.edu">beinecke.library@yale.edu</a> to request access to the digital copy. |         |
| b. 34, f. 414     | re: marriage  |         |
| b. 34, f. 415     | re: Russia  |         |
| b. 34, f. 416     | re: Socialism   |         |
| b. 35, f. 417-426 | Unidentified  |         |
| b. 36, f. 427-433 | Unidentified  |         |

### Series IV: Memorabilia, [ca. 1880s]-1964

2' (5 boxes)

Series IV contains ASW's memorabilia which is arranged in two sections: *Personal and Family, friends, and subject files*. *Personal* includes memorabilia such as ASW's address books, membership cards, and passports. *Family, friends, and subject files* contains material saved by ASW concerning her friends, family, or subjects of interest to her. This section is arranged alphabetically by name and subject.

| <u>P</u>                           | <u>ersonal</u>   |  |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| b. 37, f. 434                      | Address books  |  |
| b. 37, f. 435                      | Clippings  |  |
| b. 37, f. 436                      | Diets  |  |
| b. 37, f. 437                      | Financial and legal papers   |  |
| b. 37, f. 438                      | Guestbooks   |  |
| b. 37, f. 439                      | Programs   |  |
| b. 37, f. 440                      | Promotional literature   |  |
| b. 37, f. 441                      | Miscellaneous (membership cards, passports, business cards, calling cards)   |  |
| Family, friends, and subject files |  |  |
| b. 37, f. 442                      | Abbott, Leonard - memoir   |  |
| b. 37, f. 443-444                  | Abbott, Leonard  |  |
| b. 38, f. 445                      | Abbott, Leonard  |  |
| b. 38, f. 446                      | American League to Abolish Capital Punishment  |  |
| b. 38, f. 447                      | Artwork  |  |
| b. 38, f. 448                      | Balch, Emily Greene  |  |
| b. 38, f. 449                      | Civil rights movement  |  |
| b. 38, f. 450                      | Friends - miscellaneous  |  |
| b. 38, f. 451                      | Intercollegiate Socialist Society, Industrial Workers of the World, League for Industrial Democracy, Socialist Party |  |
| b. 38, f. 452                      | London, Jack   |  |
| b. 38, f. 453                      | Lorwin, Rose Strunsky and Louis  |  |
| b. 38, f. 454                      | Matson, Anna Walling   |  |
| b. 38, f. 455                      | Peace movement   |  |
| b. 38, f. 456                      | Perlman, Selig   |  |
| b. 38, f. 457                      | Poetry   |  |
|                                    |  |  |

#### Family, friends, and subject files (continued)

| b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>458</b> | Postcards - art work                                      |
|------------------------------|---|
| b. 39, f. 459                | Postcards - Cuba, France, Germany, Italy, Poland          |
| b. 39, f. 460                | Postcards - Russia  |
| b. 39, f. 461                | Postcards - Switzerland, United Kingdom                   |
| b. 39, f. 462                | Postcards - U.S California, District of Columbia, Florida |
| b. 39, f. 463                | Postcards - U.S Maine, Massachusetts, New Jersey          |
| b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>464</b> | Postcards - U.S New York, Pennsylvania                    |
| b. 39, f. 465                | Postcards - U.S Rhode Island, General                     |
| b. 39, f. 465                | Postcards - unidentified                                  |
| b. 40, f. 466                | Religion  |
| b. 40, f. 467                | Russia  |
| b. 40, f. 468                | Russian pictures  |
| b. 40, f. 469                | Russell, Charles Edward                                   |
| b. 40, f. 470                | Sacco and Vanzetti case                                   |
| b. 40, f. 471                | San Francisco earthquake                                  |
| b. 40, f. 472                | Schroeder, Theodore                                       |
| b. 40, f. 473                | Society of Friends  |
| b. 40, f. 474                | Strunsky family   |
| b. 40, f. 475                | Tirana, Rosamund Walling                                  |
| b. 40, f. 476                | Tirana family   |
| b. 40, f. 477                | Traubel, Horace   |
| b. 40, f. 478                | Travel literature and memorabilia                         |
| b. 40, f. 479                | Walling, Georgia  |
| b. 40, f. 480                | Walling, William Hayden English                           |
|                              | Walling, William English                                  |
| b. 41, f. 481                | Clippings   |
| b. 41, f. 482                | Juvenilia   |
| b. 41, f. 483                | Memorabilia   |
| b. 41a, f. 483a              | Memorabilia   |
| b. 41a, f. 484-486           | Writings  |

#### Family, friends, and subject files (continued)

| b. <b>41a</b> , f. <b>487</b> | Walling family |
|-------------------------------|----------------|
| b. 41a, f. 488                | Whitman, Walt  |

# Series V: Photographs, [ca. 1900-1960]

0.25 linear feet (1 box)

The photographs in Series V are arranged by subject.

#### Photographs

| b. 42, f. 489 | Anna Strunsky Walling and family  |
|---------------|---|
| b. 42, f. 490 | Russian trips [ca. 1905-1907]   |
| b. 42, f. 491 | Ralph Hamill, Rose Pastor Stokes, and other persons                     |
| b. 42, f. 492 | San Francisco earthquake, California, England, and miscellaneous places |

# Accession 1994-M-101: Additional Material, 1901-1914, 1957-1966, undated

0.25 linear feet (1 box)

Received from: Anna Strunsky Hamburger, 1994 May 24

| b. 1, f. 1               | Correspondence of Anna Strunsky, Walling to Anna (daughter: Mrs. Norman Matson)   | 1961 June-1963<br>October 4,<br>undated |
|--------------------------|---|---|
| b. 1, f. 2               | Correspondence of Anna Strunsky, Walling to Ganni (grandson)  | 1957                                    |
| b. 1, f. 3               | Correspondence of Anna Strunsky, Walling to Georgia Walling (daughter)  | 1961 August 29                          |
| b. 1, f. 4               | Correspondence of Georgia Walling to Anna Walling Matson (sister)   | 1963 August                             |
| b. 1, f. 5               | Correspondence of [William English Walling] to Willoughby Walling: photocopy  | [1906] August<br>19                     |
| b. 1, f. 6               | Correspondence of William Hayden English Walling to Anna Strunsky Walling (mother)  | undated                                 |
|                          |   |   |
|                          | Writings  |   |
| b. 1, f. 7               | Writings "Ex Profundus," by Anna Strunsky Walling English   | 1901 January 22                         |
| b. 1, f. 7<br>b. 1, f. 8 | "Ex Profundus," by Anna Strunsky Walling  | 1901 January 22<br>undated              |
|                          | "Ex Profundus," by Anna Strunsky Walling English  Windlestraws: handwritten pages of Anna Strunsky Walling's unpublished  |   |
| b. 1, f. 8               | "Ex Profundus," by Anna Strunsky Walling English  Windlestraws: handwritten pages of Anna Strunsky Walling's unpublished novel  "Anna Strunsky's Parcel": biographical reminiscence by V. Bykov         | undated                                 |
| b. 1, f. 8<br>b. 1, f. 9 | "Ex Profundus," by Anna Strunsky Walling English  Windlestraws: handwritten pages of Anna Strunsky Walling's unpublished novel  "Anna Strunsky's Parcel": biographical reminiscence by V. Bykov English | undated  1965 January  1903–1911, 1960– |

### Accession 2000-M-006: Additional Material, 1906-1927, undated

The addition is comprised predominantly of letters from Anna Strunsky Walling to her mother-in-law and father-in-law, Rosalind and Willoughby Walling. The letters discuss her children, her relationship with her husband, and some details about her professional writing. The addition also includes two candid photographs of Walling feeding pigeons in 1907. Random clippings and miscellaneous correspondence complete the records.

| b. 1, f. 1   | Clippings                        | undated       |
|--------------|----------------------------------|---------------|
|              | Correspondence                   |               |
| b. 1, f. 2   | Schaefer, Myron                  | 1926          |
| b. 1, f. 3-8 | Walling, Rosalind and Willoughby | 1906-1927     |
| b. 1, f. 9   | Woods, Carleton W.               | 1926          |
| b. 1, f. 10  | First names and unidentified     | 1926, undated |
| b. 1, f. 11  | Photographs                      | 1907          |
| b. 1, f. 12  | Poetry by Rose English           | undated       |

#### **Selected Search Terms**

The following terms have been used to index the description of this collection in the Library's online catalog. They are grouped by name of person or organization, by subject or location, and by occupation and listed alphabetically therein.

#### **Subjects**

Families
Jews -- United States
Marriage
Socialism -- United States
Travelers -- Europe
Women authors -- United States
Women -- United States

#### **Geographic Names**

Soviet Union -- Description and travel United States -- Race relations United States -- Social life and customs

#### Genres / Formats

Diaries Photoprints Postcards

### **Occupations**

**Authors** 

#### **Names**

Abbott, Leonard Dalton, 1878-1953 Anderson, Melville Best, 1851-1933 Arazarena, Tor de Backus, Joseph Moorhead, 1925-Balch, Emily Greene, 1867-1961 Berkman, Alexander, 1870-1936 Cowell, Harry Cowell, Olive Thompson, 1887-1984 France, Anatole, 1844-1924 Goldman, Emma, 1869-1940 Gompers, Samuel, 1850-1924 Guillain, Alix Hapgood, Hutchins, 1869-1944 Herron, George Davis, 1862-1925 King, Cameron H. (Cameron Haight), 1844-London, Charmian, 1871-1955 London, Jack, 1876-1916 Lorwin, Rose Strunsky Maryson, Edna

Maryson, Katherine E. Matson, Anna Walling Merison, Y. A., 1866-1941 Nock, Albert Jay, 1872 or 1873-1945 Perlman, Selig, 1888-1959 Russell, Charles Edward, 1860-1941 Sinclair, Upton, 1878-1968 Strunsky, Elias Tirana, Bardyl Rifat, 1937-Tirana, Rosamond English Walling, 1910-Wald, Lillian D., 1867-1940 Walling, Anna Strunsky, 1879-Walling, Elizabeth Archer Walling, Georgia Walling, Mary Elizabeth Walling, Mary-Martha Fulton Walling, Odette Bonat Walling, Rosalind English, d. 1930 Walling, William English, 1877-1936 Walling, William Hayden English Walling, Willoughby, 1848-1916 Warbasse, Agnes D. (Agnes Dyer), 1877-1945 Warbasse, James Peter, 1866-1957 Wilshire, Gaylord, 1861-1927 Woods, Edith English

#### **Corporate Body**

National Association for the Advancement of Colored People

## **Acquired From**

Walling, Christopher English, copyright holder